1951

# In the Matter of the Estate of Mignon Denhalter Lewis : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

### STATEMENT OF CASE

This is a proceeding for the determination of whether or not William H. English is entitled to a portion of the estate of Mignon Denhalter Lewis. Mr. English claims that his father, William Henry Johnston, was a natural son of Henry Charles Denhalter, who was a brother of the deceased, Mignon Denhalter Lewis. That while his father was admittedly born out of lawful wedlock, it is the claim of Mr. English that he is none the less entitled to participate in the distribution of the estate of Mrs. Lewis because of being the natural grandchild of Henry Charles Denhalter and on account

of Henry Charles Denhalter having acknowledged the father of the claimant as his (Henry Charles Denhalter's) child and on account of said Henry Charles Denhalter having married the grandmother of the claimant. Three of the admitted lawful sons of Henry Charles Denhalter are resisting the claim of Mr. English.

It is established without controversy that Mignon Denhalter Lewis died without leaving surviving her any children, parents or husband and that the next of kin was a sister who was entitled to one-half of the estate and the heirs at law of her deceased brother, who are entitled to the other one-half of her estate. The Court concluded that the three lawful sons of the deceased brother of Mrs. Lewis and Mr. English the claimant are entitled to share and share alike in the one-half of the residue of the estate of Mrs. Lewis. The three lawful sons of Henry Charles Denhalter contend that the claimant, William H. English, is not entitled to participate in the distribution of the estate of Mrs. Lewis and they are prosecuting this appeal from the decree and judgment awarding to William H. English a part of the estate of Mrs. Lewis.

In order to give the court a better understanding of the matters which divide the parties to this proceeding, we have deemed it advisable to give the court an abstract of the material part of the evidence which was offered at the trial.

It was made to appear at the trial without dispute that Henry Charles Denhalter, the claimed grandfather of the claimant, William H. English, died on August 10, 1931.

That William Henry Johnston, the father of the claimant, died on April 29, 1937.

That Mrs. Mignon Denhalter Lewis died on September 5, 1949 (Tr. 3) and that claimant was born out of wedlock. (Tr. 5)

William John Clark, a witness called by claimant, testified in substance as follows: That he resides at 375 Eighth East Street in Salt Lake City, Utah, where he has lived since 1903. That he was acquainted with and a friend of a family by the name of Johnston, but not related to them. That one of the Johnstons was a police officer. (Tr. 5) That he had a number of cleaning women work for him, one of whose name was a Mrs. Rosa; that there was a child born at his home. Over objection of counsel for the Denhalter boys that the testimony was hearsay, he was permitted to testify. That his wife made arrangements with a Dr. Root about bringing a girl to his home to be confined. (Tr. 6) The girl didn't even want to see the baby. She was not at his home more than 3 days; that he never saw the girl; that his wife told him about the child born at his home and that it was a boy. (Tr. 8) That Mrs. Rosa's daughter had the child; that a child was in the home of Mr. Clark a



number of times after it was born. That the Johnstons had the child; that he had difficulty in remembering; that he has nearly lost his mind. (Tr. 10) That after the child was born, Charles Denhalter and the child's mother came to his home and demanded the child about a year or less after the child was born; that when the witness went to the door, Charlie Denhalter threatened to beat the witness up because he would not tell him where the child was. He told Charlie Denhalter that he didn't know where the child was, but it was out of the state. (Tr. 11) That he had not seen the woman who came with Charlie Denhalter to get the child before the time they came to his house; that he saw quite often the child that the Johnstons had for four or five years or maybe five or six years after they received it. (Tr. 12) That when he next saw Henry William Johnston, he was a grown man; that was in 1927 when Henry William Johnston asked if he, Mr. Clark, would tell him, Johnston, who his father was and if he would go to court and swear who his father was which he, Clark, said he did; that he, Clark, told Johnston that his father was Charlie Denhalter; (Tr. 13) that Mr. Denhalter called up Clark and said that his statement about being the father of Johnston raised a big disturbance in his family; that he nearly lost his wife on account of doing that; that he was going to knock his block off. (Tr. 14)

On cross-examination he testified that he was a bartender and was not running a hotel or a hospital at the time the child was born in his home; that he had never



seen the supposed mother of the baby born in his home until she came and demanded the baby; (Tr. 14) that he didn't know that the baby born in his home was taken to the Johnston's home except from what he was told by the women folks; that he was a witness to the adoption of the child by the Johnstons; (Tr. 15) that after the child was taken into the Johnston home, he saw it about twice a month until it was three or four years old and then he did not see him for about 18 years. (Tr. 16)

Mary Ann English testified that she married her present husband in 1937 and that she married Mr. Johnston, her former husband in 1927 or 1924. (Tr. 18) That she came to Salt Lake City in 1927 and met her husband's family consisting of Mrs. Johnston and Frances Loveless; that she also met the Denhalters; that Mrs. Denhalter came to the hospital while she was there; that Mr. Denhalter wanted them to come to their home; (Tr. 19) that arrangements were made to have Mrs. Julia Hummel come to Salt Lake; (Tr. 20) that before she was a Hummel her name was Julia Rosa Denhalter. (Tr. 21) That Mr. Denhalter seemed to be quite happy that he had found Henry Johnston; that Mr. and Mrs. Henry Charles Denhalter provided money for the living expenses of the witness and her then husband; (Tr. 22) that the Denhalters got a house for the witness and her husband and the Johnstons let them have some furniture; that the witness and her husband resided in the home secured for them five or six months and then moved back to the Denhalters, where the child, claimant herein,

was born. That when Mr. Denhalter was home he treated the witnesses son the same as his children; that she stayed at the Denhalter home until her child was four or five months old; (Tr. 23) that the witness and her husband moved into an auto court (Tr. 25) and soon thereafter she and her husband separated and Mr. Denhalter told her husband that if he did not treat his wife, the witness, better he would disown him and that she could come and stay at the home of the Denhalters; that off and on she stayed at the Denhalter's home with her son, the claimant herein, until the boy was five years old; (Tr. 26) that since the death of Henry Charles Denhalter, the Denhalter family have been very congenial with the witness; that on one occasion Dick or Richard Denhalter said that the claimant's father was his half-brother; (Tr. 27) that the Denhalter boys were not denying that; that the claimant was a grandson of their father, (Tr. 29) but they thought that he was not entitled to as much of the estate of Mrs. Lewis as they were; (Tr. 30) that the witness has attempted to get Julia Rosa Denhalter Hummel to come and testify for her; that she has not been able to get in touch with her since she last talked with her which was in 1950; a returned letter addressed to Mrs. Julia Hummel, 1020 West 89th, Los Angeles, California, was received in evidence over the objections of counsel for the Denhalter boys. (Tr. 31-32)

On cross-examination, Mrs. English testified that she was 23 years of age when she first came to Salt Lake

City; that her husband was then 22 years of age; (Tr. 33) that her husband was about 19 years of age when she first met him in Boston, where he was employed as a male nurse; that she and her husband were in Salt Lake about nine months or a year before they met the Denhalters; that after the birth of her baby she and her husband had trouble; that she called up the Denhalters and told them her husband had beaten her and they came down and took her to their home; (Tr. 34) that her husband had been at the Denhalter home some time before he and Mr. Denhalter had trouble because her husband was stealing and selling Denhalter's guns, etc.; that Mr. Denhalter told the husband of the witness that if he did not treat her better, he didn't want to see him again; that Mr. Denhalter tried to get a job for the husband of the witness but he could not hold a a job; (Tr. 35) that Mr. Denhalter said he would make room for the witnesses husband and he, Denhalter, was glad to find him after all these years and he sent for the mother of the boy. (Tr. 36)

Mary Frances Johnston Loveless testified for the claimant. She testified that she is the daughter of John Henry Johnston, who was a police sergeant at the time he was killed, which occurred on July 5, 1911; (Tr. 37) that she remembers that in 1905 of going to Bill Clark's with her folks; that she was six or seven years old and she went out into the kitchen and saw a girl sitting with this baby on her lap getting its clothes on and Mrs. Clark was helping; the baby was a boy and the baby grew up in

the Johnston home and was named William Henry Johnston; that some time after she was visiting at the Clark home with her father and mother and was playing in the front yard when this girl came with a boy and went into the house, and the girl said "I know the people are here with the baby because the little girl that was here that came out in the kitchen when they took the baby, is playing in the front yard," and she says, "and also the baby's bonnett is laying right over there on the couch, so I know they are in the house. Of course there was a big argument and they left and my folks were out in the back of the house with the baby; (Tr. 38) she was permitted to testify over objection that her mother kept a chest and the witness looked in the chest and found a little piece of paper that had the name Julia Rosa on it and Charles Henry Denhalter and the baby's age." A motion to strike the foregoing evidence was by the court denied. (Tr. 40)

Mrs. Loveless further testified that when William Henry Johnston came back from Boston with his wife that she told him that his father was Henry Denhalter and where he lived and she thought he ought to go meet him; that because of doing so, Mrs. Loveless's mother wanted to disown her; that the conversation with her adopted brother occurred about a month after he came to Salt Lake. (Tr. 41)

On cross-examination, the witness testified that when the couple came to the Clark home they wanted the baby, but she didn't know what was said; that the time

the couple came to get the baby was after they were married which as is shown by the marriage certificate, which was received in evidence, occurred on July 31, 1905. (Tr. 42) That they said they wanted the baby. (Tr. 45) That she was six or seven years old at the time. (Tr.46)

Mrs. Elizabeth Denhalter, the surviving widow of Henry Charles Denhalter was called as a witness by the claimant and testified that she met Henry Johnston and his wife when they came to Salt Lake in June 1926; that she saw Mrs. Johnston, now Mrs. English, in the hospital and they were later taken into the home of the witness and her husband; that Mrs. Johnston was ill at the time; that when they came to the Denhalter home, she didn't recall her husband saying anything, (Tr. 48) that she knew that her husband had been married and divorced when she married him; that Mr. Denhalter's first wife was named Julia Rosa and later she married a Mr. Hummel; (Tr. 49) that Mr. Denhalter asked the witness about having the mother of Henry Johnston come to the Denhalter house and Mrs. Denhalter told him to do as he saw fit; that Mr. Denhalter advanced the money for Mrs. Hummel to come to Salt Lake, but the same was later repaid to Mr. Denhalter by Mrs. Hummel. That Mrs. Hummel came late in August and stayed quite some time; that Mrs. Denhalter got very tired of her and almost had to kick her out; that she left late in the fall; that Mrs. Johnston was sick and needed help and Mrs. Denhalter was glad to help her; that she didn't know what went on between Mr. and Mrs. Johnston and her husband;

(Tr. 50) that when the Johnstons took up housekeeping on their own account, the Denhalters helped them and paid the rent; that Mrs. Johnston came off and on to the Denhalter home because her husband didn't furnish her a home; that Mrs. Denhalter took care of Mrs. Johnston when her baby was born, who is the claimant in this proceeding; that the mother went to work when the baby was about 10 months old. (Tr. 51-a)

On cross-examination, Mrs. Denhalter testified that Mrs. Hummel probably did not stay quite two months; that the Johnston boy was sick while he was at the Denhalter home; that the Johnston boy and Mr. Denhalter had difficulty right from the beginning; that the Johnston boy took things and finally Mr. Denhalter kicked him out; that upon one occasion his wife, now Mrs. English, called the Denhalters in the middle of the night because her husband had thrown her out and the Denhalters went and got her and took her to the Denhalter home. (Tr. 51-b) That at that time her son, the claimant, was not more than two or three months old. (Tr. 52-53)

The claimant called as a witness a Mrs. Rella Gleason, who testified that she knew Julia Rosa as a girl; that they lived in the same neighborhood as girls; that she remembered Julia Rosa and Henry Charles Denhalter keeping company and of their being married. (Tr. 52)



Mrs. Ann Clark English, the wife of the claimant, was called as a witness and after much hedging and leading, she testified that Dick Denhalter stated that claimant's father was his half-brother. (Tr. 56-58)

William Henry English, the claimant, testified on his own behalf and stated that on one occasion when he was being introduced one of the Denhalter boys said that he, William English, was his nephew; that on another occasion the three Denhalter boys met with the claimant and his father and mother to talk over the matter of settling their rights in the property of the estate of Mrs. Lewis, at which time Jack Denhalter finally said: "We are not denying that you are, but you are not entitled to as much of it as we are." A motion to strike this evidence because it was an attempt to compromise the litigation was denied.

Alvin Ray English was called as a witness for the claimant and testified that he is the adopted father of William English, the claimant herein; that he had been quite active in investigating the claim of his adopted son; that up to the time the Denhalter boys employed an attorney the Denhalters had not denied that William English was in the blood line of the Denhalters; (Tr. 87) that he recalled the time when the three Denhalter boys had a talk with him, his wife and adopted son; that they gave the impression that they wanted to settle the property of Mrs. Lewis; that at that time nothing was said about whether or not William English was a Den-



halter; that at one time he went with the Denhalter boys to consult a lawyer about the Lewis estate. (Tr. 88-89) On cross-examination he testified that he had adopted and taken care of the claimant since he was a small boy. (Tr. 89)

The Denhalters offered in evidence some court records which show that Julia R. Denhalter secured a divorce from Henry C. Denhalter on July 29, 1910. (Tr. 64-67) No mention is made in the decree of the parties having had any children. It was further made to appear from the court records that John Henry Johnston and his wife, Tishia B. Johnston sought to and were permitted to adopt an illegitimate child, the son of Julia Roberts. (Tr. 69-70) The decree is dated January 8, 1906. (Tr. 71-72)

As a part of the court records appears the following:

### Adoption of William Henry Johnston

To Whom it may concern:

This is to certify that I the undersigned, the Mother of an infant boy do hereby relinquish any claim I have to said child and consent that said boy be adopted by whomsoever the court may see fit to give him to, and I hereby waive all notice of adoption and consent that it may be done without any notice to me.

Julia Roberts

Witness:

Mother

(Tr. 71)

Mrs. W. J. Clark

W. J. Clark

The Consent to adoption is not dated.

The Denhalter boys were sworn and denied having introduced the claimant as their nephew. Charles Richard Denhalter testified that he did not recall saying anything to the claimant's wife about being related to the claimant's father. (Tr. 74) He further testified that he recalled that he and his brothers met with the claimant and his adopted father and mother when they talked about the estate of Mrs. Lewis; that Mr. English, the adopted father of the claimant, had assured the three Denhalter boys that he had conclusive evidence that the claimant was a Denhalter and they went to find out about the facts and to see what could be done. (Tr. 74-75)

On cross-examination he testified that he heard that the claimant had received \$1500.00 out of his grandfather's estate, but that he didn't know how it came about that the \$1500.00 was paid, (Tr. 77) whether it came out of the estate or was paid by Mrs. Campbell to prevent notoriety about the matter. As to the occasion of the Denhalter boys meeting with the claimant and her mother and father, the testimony of the two other Denhalter boys is substantially the same as that above summarized. (Tr. 78)

In order to properly construe the law of this state touching children born out of wedlock, we have thus deemed it necessary to summarize the evidence. We shall

have further comments to make about the evidence in connection with the various provisions of our statutory law.

## ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

The appellants assign the following errors upon which they rely for reversal of the Judgment appealed from:

### POINT ONE

The trial court erred in admitting over the objection of the appellants the following testimony of the witness William John Clark.

(a) Well, the arrangements were made between the doctor and my wife and this girl's Mother to bring the baby there or the girl to have her baby, and it was to be given to the Johnstons. This girl didn't even want to see the baby and gave it away as quickly as possible. (Tr. 8)

(b) She, his wife, told him about the birth of the child in his home.

(c) She, his wife, told him that Mrs. Rosa's daughter was the Mother of the child and that it was a boy. (Tr. 9)

(d) That Julia Rosa was the one who purported to have had the child in his home. (Tr. 12)

(e) That he saw the baby born in his home in the Johnston home. (Tr. 12)

## POINT TWO

The trial court erred in admitting in evidence, over the objection of the appellants and in refusing to strike, the following testimony of the witnesses Mary Frances Johnston Loveless.

a() My Mother kept a chest. I guess I can tell that—and I looked in this chest and found a little piece of paper that had the name Julia Rosa on it and Charles Henry Denhalter and the baby's age, and I guess that is about all that was on it, just a little piece of paper about like this. (Tr. 40)

## POINT THREE

The trial court erred in finding that William H. English, the claimant, is the grandson of Henry Charles Denhalter because such finding is not supported by any substantial competent evidence. (R. 6)

## POINT FOUR

The trial court erred in making its Conclusion of Law that the claimant, William H. English, is entitled to participate in the distribution of the estate of Mignon Denhalter Lewis, deceased. (R. 8)

## POINT FIVE

The trial court erred in awarding to the claimant, William H. English, a part of the estate of Mignon Denhalter Lewis, deceased. (R. 10)

## ARGUMENT

## POINT ONE

*The trial court erred in admitting in evidence the testimony of the witness William John Clark as to what he was told by his wife.*

The trial court admitted in evidence the hearsay testimony of the witness Clark, apparently upon the theory that such testimony falls within an exception to the hearsay rule in that it was testimony touching pedigree. There are two reasons why the testimony of Mr. Clark as to what he was told by his wife does not fall within the rule. First, what Mrs. Clark told her husband was not in any sense a matter of family history or pedigree and second, neither Mr. Clark nor his wife were competent witnesses to give hearsay testimony as to the pedigree of the Denhalters.

The authorities teach that hearsay evidence as to the history of a family or what is frequently referred to as pedigree may be established by hearsay testimony. However, what Mrs. Clark told her husband about Mrs. Rosa's daughter being confined in his home, about the arrangements made to have the child adopted by the Johnstons, about the child being a boy, about a Dr. Root waiting on the woman who was confined in his home, etc., is obviously not a matter of family history or pedigree. Moreover, it is quite generally held that "declarations (as to pedigree) must not only have been made by a person

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