1951

In the Matter of the Estate of Mignon Denhalter Lewis : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

A careful examination of the Statement of Case contained in Appellant's Brief reveals that while the Statement of Facts contained therein is accurate there are some essential details which were not stated. Such essential facts as were not stated it will be necessary to recite in respondent's argument and therefore they will not be stated in a Statement of Facts.

All italics are ours. Parties will be referred to as appellants and respondent throughout this brief.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE TESTIMONY OF WILLIAM JOHN CLARK AND MARY FRANCES JOHNSTON LOVELESS, WITNESSES, WAS COMPETENT EVIDENCE.

POINT II.

THERE IS SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE SUPPORTING THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDING THAT WILLIAM H. ENGLISH IS THE GRANDSON OF HENRY CHARLES DENHALTER.

POINT III.

WILLIAM H. ENGLISH AS MATTER OF LAW IS ENTITLED TO PARTICIPATE IN THE DISTRIBUTION OF THE ESTATE OF MIGNON DENHALTER LEWIS, AS HER GRANDNEPHEW.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE TESTIMONY OF WILLIAM JOHN CLARK AND MARY FRANCES JOHNSTON LOVELESS, WITNESSES, WAS COMPETENT EVIDENCE.

The testimony of William John Clark concerning statements that were made to him by his wife was competent evidence and properly received by the trial court. The declarant of the statements was Mr. Clark's wife, Daisy Lenore Clark. Mrs. Clark died in 1910 (R. 16, 18). Mrs. Clark's statements to her husband concerned the birth of a child born in her home and which was adopted by close friends of her family, the John Henry Johnstons.

Mrs. Clark was present at the birth of the child (R. 20). She was also the party who made the arrangements through Doctor Root for Julia Rosa to come to her home for the birth of the child. Mr. Clark was present in the home at that time and while he did not see the mother until after the child was born he was conscious of the fact that the child was born in his home. It was logical that the birth of the child would be discussed between himself and his wife.

The circumstances recited make all of the evidence Mr. Clark gave entirely competent. All of the declarations to which Mr. Clark testified were made prior to any controversy and under circumstances which would indicate that the statements were trustworthy. There was no reason for any bias or prejudice and the persons discussing the matter had no interest or motive to deceive and had every opportunity of acquiring accurate knowledge and knowing the true facts.

Hearsay evidence under the circumstances has historically been found to be competent.

The hearsay exception of declarations about family history or pedigree has been universally recognized in all common law jurisdictions. *Wigmore on Evidence*, 3rd Edition, Volume 5, Sections 1480 through 1503, pages 291 to 326, discusses clearly and forcefully the cases and rules of law governing this exception to the hearsay rule. His discussion points out that the basis for receiving hearsay evidence is necessity. Very often declarants and persons who have first-hand knowledge of the occurrences are dead or unavailable. There are many sub-

stantial safeguards for trustworthiness. People who talk over family affairs when there is no reason for bias or passion usually attempt to tell the truth and their statements in such discussions are trustworthy. They are made prior to the time that any controversy arose and by persons who had no interest or motive to deceive. Statements must also come from persons who appear to have a fair knowledge or fair opportunity to acquire knowledge on the subject about which they make their declarations. Mrs. Clark's declarations were made concerning her own personal observations.

In some jurisdictions only declarations of relatives are properly receivable. This requirement has been abandoned by enlightened jurisdictions when necessity required it. Section 1487, page 304, of Wigmore states that the declarant is qualified whenever he is found to be "likely to know the facts," "having an opportunity to know the facts," or holding a relation, rendering it very probable that he would learn them truly and when such circumstances exist it is not necessary that the declarant be a relative.

In *J. A. Turner v. W. M. Person*, 175 N.C. 219, 95 S.E. 362, hearsay evidence was received concerning a doctor's statement to the father of a child concerning the fact that the child had been born alive. The North Carolina court cites and quotes Wigmore's rules, approving them.

In *Hoyt v. Lightbody*, 98 Minn. 198, 116 Am. St. Rep. 366, 108 N.W. 843, a husband of a half-sister of the de-

ceased wife was allowed to testify and the Supreme Court of Minnesota concluded as follows:

“The evidence of a witness whose knowledge with reference to the subject was derived from an intimate acquaintance with the family is admissible to prove such facts of family history as marriage, kinship, name, and death. (Citing cases).”

In *Alston v. Alston*, 114 Iowa 29, 86 N.W. 55, declarations of a man and his wife who were friends of the parents and in whose home the child resided were received and held admissible even though the declarants were in no way related to either of the persons whose family history was an issue.

Frey v. Thomas, 207 Iowa 1229, 224 N.W. 597, following *Alston v. Alston*, allowed a foster mother's declaration to be testified about and again Wigmore's treatise on evidence was cited with approval. See also for similar holdings *Budlong v. Budlong*, 48 R. I. 144, 166 Atl. 308; *Jackson v. Cooley*, 8 John 130 (N.Y.); *In Re Hamm's Estate*, 186 Okla. 610, 99 P. 2d 895.

Professor Wigmore after reviewing many authorities which have had occasion to pass on the family pedigree exception to the hearsay rule concluded as follows (Vol. 5, p. 305):

“It is not necessary to maintain that the statements of *any friend* are always admissible; but it is desirable to disavow any limitation which would exclude the statements of one whose intimacy with the family could leave no doubt as to

his sufficient knowledge, equally with the family members, of the facts of the family history.”

This exception to the hearsay rule was covered by the *A. L. I., Model Code of Evidence*, Rule 524, Subsection 2 (a) (i), which reads as follows:

“(2) Evidence of a hearsay statement of a matter concerning the birth, marriage, divorce, death, legitimacy, race-ancestry, relationship by blood or marriage or other similar fact of the family history of a person other than the declarant

(a) is admissible if the judge

(i) finds that the declarant was related to the other by blood or marriage or finds that the declarant was otherwise so intimately associated with the other’s family as to be likely to have accurate information concerning the matter declared, and made the statement as upon information received from the other or from a person related by blood or marriage to the other, or as upon repute in the other’s family, and

(ii) finds that the declarant is unavailable as a witness; and

(b) may be admitted by the judge in the exercise of his discretion if he finds the facts specified in clause (a) (i) of this Paragraph even if all declarants are available.”

Mrs. Clark, the declarant in the present case, was intimately associated with the Johnstons, Julia Rosa and her mother. She was actually present at the birth of the child to Julia Rosa. What she was declaring concerned an event she *witnessed*. She told her husband that a boy

child was born to Julia Rose. No one could have possessed more opportunity to observe and accurately know the facts declared. She had no motive to deceive nor bias or prejudice and it is inconceivable that at that early date there could have been a thought of any controversy concerning the event which she observed and related to her husband. Clark's testimony came well within the exception to the hearsay rule.

Rule 43 of the *Utah Rules of Civil Procedure* requires that the rule which favors the reception of evidence rather than any rule which would exclude it be followed by the courts of this state. Respondent submits that this Court should adopt the *A. L. I., Model Code of Evidence*, Rule 524, Subsection 2, as the law of this State, it being the rule which favors the reception rather than exclusion of evidence.

Mr. Clark knew of the child being born in his own home from observations that he had made around the home. He knew that Julia Rosa was the daughter of his housekeeper and that she came to the home with Henry Charles Denhalter and demanded the return of her child. Mr. Clark was very well acquainted with Henry Charles Denhalter for Mr. Denhalter delivered soft drinks to the saloon in which Mr. Clark worked as a bartender (R. 22). He also testified from his own knowledge concerning the child that grew up in the Johnston family and was in that family immediately after the episode of the birth of a child in his home. There was only one child ever born in his home so there can be no problem of confusion as

to the child. Most of Clark's testimony was based on his own observations rather than hearsay.

Mary Frances Johnston Loveless, the adopted sister of William Henry Johnston, knew many things from her own observations. She saw the baby in the arms of its natural mother being dressed and made ready for the reception by her mother. She saw the same baby afterwards in her own home. She recalls the return of the mother with Henry Charles Denhalter, describing the episode that Mr. Clark testified about (R. 49). She testified about the demands made by Julia Rosa and Henry Charles Denhalter after their marriage when they came to attempt to regain the child that Julia Rosa had given away prior to her marriage. The only evidence presented by Mrs. Loveless to which appellant takes exception was the statement concerning the writing which Mrs. Loveless saw in her mother's chest. The statements of Mrs. Loveless concerning the birth of the child, its date of birth, and the parentage of the child would have been statements from a relative of William Henry Johnston, i.e. his foster mother. The information which she gave in the writings, while hearsay, would come within the common law rule allowing hearsay statements from relatives. Through Mrs. Loveless, William Henry Johnston is traced from the time he was in the arms of his mother to his manhood and back into the Denhalter family.

Even though some incompetent hearsay evidence was received by the trial court, this Court will assume that the trial court, having full knowledge of the law and being the finder of the fact, would ignore any such in-

competent or inadmissible evidence in making its finding of fact.

In a decision of the Supreme Court written by counsel for appellants, who was then Chief Justice of this Court, the rule was set down in the following language, *Christensen v. Johnson*, 90 Utah 127, 61 P. 2d 597, 600:

“* * * When a cause is tried before a court, as was this cause, an appellate court is not prone to reverse the judgment because evidence was improperly admitted. In such case the presumption is indulged that the trial court disregarded the evidence which was improperly received in reaching its conclusions. *Victoria Copper Mining Co. v. Haws*, 7 Utah 515, 27 P. 695; *Spratt v. Paulson*, 49 Utah 9, 161 P. 1120; *Utah State Building & Loan Ass’n v. Perkins*, 53 Utah 474, 173 P. 950; *Matson v. Matson*, 56 Utah 394, 190 P. 943; *Peek v. Bailey*, 57 Utah 546, 196 P. 206. Independent of the evidence which defendant claims was improperly received, there was competent and substantial evidence offered and received in support of the findings made by the trial court. This being an action at law, we are bound by such findings.”

See also *Corey v. Roberts*, 82 Utah 445, 25 P. 2d 940; *Quermbeck v. Hanson*, 94 Utah 127, 75 P. 2d 1027; *Federal Land Bank of Berkeley v. Salt Lake Valley Sand & Gravel Co.*, 96 Utah 359, 85 P. 2d 791. It would therefore appear that the only basic propositions meriting

consideration by this Court is whether or not there was substantial evidence from which the trial court could have found the issues in favor of plaintiff.

POINT II.

THERE IS SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE SUPPORTING THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDING THAT WILLIAM H. ENGLISH IS THE GRANDSON OF HENRY CHARLES DENHALTER.

There is no conflict in any of the evidence presented. The testimony of William Clark that there was a child born in his home and that the child went into the Johnston home, which testimony is corroborated in all of its details by the testimony of Mrs. Loveless, is uncontradicted by any evidence. The further testimony that the baby which went into the Johnston home, was born to Julia Rosa, and that thereafter Julia Rosa and Henry Charles Denhalter came and demanded the return of the child, stating that it was their child, was also entirely uncontradicted by any evidence.

It is undisputed that the child taken into the Johnston home from the Clark home grew up to be William Henry Johnston, father of respondent. Some attempt is made in appellant's brief to cast doubt on the weight of Clark's testimony because he did not see William Henry Johnston for a period of approximately eighteen years. But his evidence that this baby who he saw in the Johnston home over a period of approximately five years was the same person he saw in 1927 is positively corroborated and substantiated by Mrs. Loveless, the adopted

sister of William Henry Johnston and knew him through all his life.

In addition to the evidence presented by the testimony of Mr. Clark and Mrs. Loveless we have the record of the marriage between Henry Charles Denhalter and Julia Rosa. We know from the testimony of Mrs. Gleason that Henry Charles Denhalter and Julia Rosa kept company prior to their marriage and were seen together on numerous occasions (R. 65, 66). The court could well have found from the fact that Julia Rosa and Henry Charles Denhalter married very soon after the birth of Julia's child and immediately made demand for the return of the child born to Julia, that Henry Charles Denhalter was the father of the child born to Julia. Respondent submits that this conduct of the two young people alone would justify a finding that Henry Charles Denhalter was the father of Julia's child. But, as has been pointed out, respondent's case rests on a much firmer basis. We have all of the testimony from Mr. Clark, Mrs. Loveless and Mrs. Gleason, which points unerringly to the one logical conclusion: that William Henry Johnston was the son of Julia Rosa and Henry Charles Denhalter.

In addition to the evidence surrounding the birth of William Henry Johnston, when he grew to manhood the evidence shows without contradiction that his father, Henry Charles Denhalter, and Julia Rosa Hummel recognized their child. That Henry Charles Denhalter received William Henry Johnston into his home as his long

lost son, paid his living expenses, and took care of his wife and infant child for a period of approximately five years (R. 31). Even the deceased Mignon Denhalter Lewis stated that respondent, William H. English, resembled the Denhalter boys, particularly Bob Denhalter (R. 38).

There was no dispute concerning these facts. All parties admit that Julia Rosa Hummel came from California, stayed at the Denhalter home while William Henry Johnston was there and that the purpose of her coming to the Denhalter home was to visit with her long lost son.

The conduct of Julia Rosa Hummel and Henry Charles Denhalter at the time William Henry Johnston returned to Salt Lake City and their treatment of him and his wife could only be explained by the fact that a child of their marriage had been born and they believed he had now returned. This conduct, when considered with the testimony of Mr. Clark and Mrs. Loveless, proves beyond any possible dispute that there was a son born to Julia Rosa as a result of her relationship with Henry Charles Denhalter and William Henry Johnston was that son.

POINT III.

WILLIAM H. ENGLISH AS MATTER OF LAW IS ENTITLED TO PARTICIPATE IN THE DISTRIBUTION OF THE ESTATE OF MIGNON DENHALTER LEWIS, AS HER GRANDNEPHEW.

Under Points Four and Five of Appellants' Brief

they argue that the respondent, because of the circumstances surrounding his birth, should not be allowed to share in the estate of Mignon Denhalter Lewis, his great-aunt.

From appellants' argument it appears that they have two basic propositions, one that under the circumstances William Henry Johnston did not become legitimized for all purposes and therefore William H. English, his son, cannot inherit through his father's natural father, and second, that he cannot inherit from collateral lines.

There are three sections of our Utah Code which cover in one way or another the question of legitimizing children born out of wedlock. *Section 14-2-14, Utah Code Annotated 1943*, reads as follows:

"If the mother of any such child and the father shall at any time after its birth intermarry, the child shall in all respects be deemed to be legitimate, and the bond for its support shall thereupon become void."

Section 14-4-12, Utah Code Annotated 1943, further showing legislative intent reads as follows:

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